

Open Access Repository

www.ssoar.info

Russian approaches to the 'common neighbourhood': change or preservation of the status quo?

Racz, Andras

Veröffentlichungsversion / Published Version Arbeitspapier / working paper

Empfohlene Zitierung / Suggested Citation:

Racz, A. (2010). Russian approaches to the 'common neighbourhood': change or preservation of the status quo? (SPES Policy Papers). Berlin: Institut für Europäische Politik e.V. (IEP). https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-394263

Nutzungsbedingungen:

Dieser Text wird unter einer CC BY-NC-ND Lizenz (Namensnennung-Nicht-kommerziell-Keine Bearbeitung) zur Verfügung gestellt. Nähere Auskünfte zu den CC-Lizenzen finden Sie hier:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.de

Terms of use:

This document is made available under a CC BY-NC-ND Licence (Attribution-Non Comercial-NoDerivatives). For more Information see:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0





Russian Approaches to the 'Common Neighbourhood': Change or Preservation of the Status Quo?

Andras Racz







About the author

Andras Racz, fellow in the Study Programme on European Security, holds a PhD in Modern History from the Eötvös Loránd University of Sciences, Budapest. Since 2009, he has worked as Research Fellow at the Institute of Strategic and Defence Studies of the Zrínyi Miklós National Defence University, Budapest. His fields of expertise include Russian foreign policy, EU-Russia relations, foreign and security policy problems of the post-Soviet region, and Hungarian foreign policy. His email address is andras.racz@gmail.com.

About IEP

Since 1959, the Institut für Europäische Politik (IEP) has been active in the field of European integration as a non-profit organisation. It is one of Germany's leading research institutes on foreign and European policy. The IEP works at the interface of academia, politics, administration, and civic education. In doing so, its tasks include scientific analyses of problems surrounding European politics and integration, as well as promotion of the practical application of its research findings.

www.iep-berlin.de

About SPES Policy Papers

The electronic collection "SPES Policy Papers" is dedicated to issues of current and future relevance to European Foreign and Security Policy. Written by grantholders of the Study Programme on European Security (SPES) for fellows from Central and Eastern Europe – conducted by IEP and supported by the Volkswagen Foundation – as well as researchers from IEP, the papers focus on four thematic clusters:

- The EU and Russia
- European Enlargement and Neighbourhood Policy
- The EU's civilian and military crisis management
- European energy policy and climate change policy

Against the background that the scientific debate on European Foreign and Security Policy is often dominated by Western perspectives, this paper series stands out by providing a platform for alternative viewpoints that focus on external perceptions and assessments of EU policies, actions and discourses.

This paper, like all publications in this series, represents only the views of its author. Copyright of this paper series is held by the Institut für Europäische Politik.

ISSN 2191-0006

Editorial Team

Publisher:

Prof. Dr. Mathias Jopp, Director, Institut für Europäische Politik

Executive Editor:

Mariella Falkenhain, Research Associate and SPES Project Coordinator, Institut für Europäische Politik

Area experts:

Dr. Elfriede Regelsberger, Deputy Director, Institut für Europäische Politik Editorial area: European Foreign and Security Policy

Dr. Katrin Böttger, Deputy Director, Institut für Europäische Politik Editorial area: European Enlargement and Neighbourhood Policy

Layout:

Matthias Jäger, Institut für Europäische Politik

Contents

	Introduction	3
I	Russian Security Interests in the Common Neighbourhood	4
	Belarus	4
	Ukraine	4
	Moldova	6
II	The European Neighbourhood Policy towards the Common Neighbourhood – from a Russian Perspective	7
	Russia's perceptions of the ENP	7
	Russia's reactions to the Eastern Partnership	8
Ш	Political Offers and Initiatives Towards the Common Neighbourhood	10
	Efforts of Inducing Constitutional Changes	10
	Providing integration alternatives	11
IV	Restrictive Political Measures Used in the Common Neighbourhood	13
	Supporting Separatism	13
	Trade Embargoes	14
	Immigration Restrictions	15
	Conclusions	16
	Bibliography	19

Introduction

The internal dynamics of the European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP) have been widely analyzed and criticized (Emerson/Noutcheva 2007. Duleba 2008, Böttger 2010). Instead of contributing to these debates, the paper mainly intends to address the role of the 'common neighbourhood' for the EU-Russia relations and to provide an insight into the Russian perspective. The term 'common neighbourhood' is used for Belarus, Ukraine and Moldova, since the study focuses on these three states only. Though the three countries of the Southern Caucasus are also included both in the ENP and in the Eastern Partnership (EaP) initiative. their situation is not analyzed here.

The paper seeks to answer the following two research questions: (1) What were the Russian reactions to the development of the ENP and the EaP? (2) What are the main political tools Russia used in the common neighbourhood? Instead of exactly measuring their efficiency, this paper aims at providing an overview by using both officials' and experts' opinions as empirical sources.

In the Russian interpretation, the analysed region traditionally belongs to the Russian zone of influence, which is an opinion that is generally based on historical arguments. The paper argues that Russia has some definite security and defence interests in the common neighbourhood, which are mostly inherited from the Soviet times. Strategic considerations, especially the defence-related interests, are definitely playing a role in shaping Russia's current attitude towards the region. As a result, Russia perceives the whole ENP from the very beginning as an EU effort to gain influence in the countries of the common neighbourhood, i.e. Russia's traditional zone of influence. As an unsurprising reaction to the EU policies, Russia has been ready either to give positive offers to countries of the common neighbourhood, or to use restrictive measures.

The main argument of this paper is that in the field of foreign, security and defence policy¹ most of the Russian political offers towards the common neighbourhood have been weak and unattractive. They were mere reactions to Western initiatives, mainly aiming at preserving the political status quo.²

The paper is composed of four main parts. The first chapter presents the Russian security interests in relation to the common neighbourhood. In the second chapter Russia's perception of the development and functioning of the ENP is analyzed, based not only on official documents and academic papers, but on interviews conducted with Russian experts. In the following two chapters, two dimensions of Russian policies towards the common neighbourhood are studied. Thus, the third chapter deals with the political offers made, while the fourth chapter provides an overview of Russian capabilities of using restrictive political measures. The fifth and concluding chapter not only summarizes the previous parts but makes an effort to address the possible fields of political cooperation between the EU and Russia in the common neighbourhood. The recommendations given are aimed at decision-makers working either in EU institutions or in individual EU member states. dealing with foreign policy towards the common neighbourhood.

This analysis focuses almost exclusively on foreign, security and defense policy. Economic aspects, such as foreign trade, foreign direct investment, energy policy, etc. are addressed to the extent that is inevitable for understanding the political contexts.

² This reactive nature of the Russian 'neighbourhood policy' is inofficially recognized by many Russian officials and

I Russian Security Interests in the Common Neighbourhood

In the field of security and defence, Russia clearly holds a much stronger position in the analyzed countries of the common neighbourhood than either the EU or the United States. This is partly a consequence of the historical heritage of the Soviet times and partly due to the developments, which have taken place since then.

First and foremost, in all three studied countries Russian troops are deployed, though in different frameworks. In Belarus and Ukraine their presence is legitimized by mutually agreed and still unchallenged international agreements, while in Moldova they could remain on the ground only due to the Russian intervention in the civil war in 1992. The ceasefire agreement forced on Moldova in summer 1992 prescribed the presence of Russian troops as peace-keepers.

Military presence in the common neighbourhood is something that Russia does not intend to give up, even in the long run. Besides their geo-strategic value, Russian forces stationed in the neighbourhood are an important political tool for exercising direct influence over the politics of the neighbouring countries. Thus, it is not surprising that Moscow tries to preserve the presence of its forces in the 'near abroad.'3

Belarus

Belarus is perceived as a country of primary importance for Russia in the field of defence. There are expert opinions according to which Minsk is the only remaining military ally of Moscow⁴ (Jasutis 2007). The recently adopted Russian military doctrine mentions Belarus on the first rank when priorities of defence cooperation are discussed (Voennaya doktrina Rossiyskoy Federatsii 2010: 51). The importance of the joint use of military infrastructure with Belarus is explicitly mentioned. This also demonstrates that defence cooperation between two states is rapidly advancing, a development that has

already been pointed out by some experts (Jasutis 2007). The most important forums for this are the Collective Security Treaty Organization (CSTO), the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) and partially the Union State. Up to now, a fully integrated system of air defence has been established, which saw its first live test during the 'Zapad 2009' military exercise in September 2009 (Soyuzinfo.ru 2009). During the debate on the U.S. missile defence shield installations to be built in Central Europe, the real significance of this system became visible: Russia reacted by declaring its readiness to deploy modern S-400 air defence missiles and Iskander-M surfacesurface missiles in Belarus (Charter97.org 2008). Additionally, there are two Russian bases operating on Belarusian soil (Semionov 2006), and the defence industry cooperation between the two countries is also intensive.

All in all, Russia's main aim in security policy related to Belarus is to deepen the defence integration of the two countries with all its consequences. Thus, it is not only ensuring the political and security loyalty of Minsk, but also possessing a strategic outpost and reliable ally in the region. Interestingly enough, despite the on-going gradual political opening up of Belarus towards the EU, no efforts are visible from the Belarusian side to extend this to security and defence policy to any extent. A pessimist interpretation of this 'symptom' might be that the Belarusian regime has *de facto* already lost its autonomy in issues of national security and defence.

Ukraine

The situation is much more complex regarding Ukraine, primarily because in times of the Soviet Union, Ukraine had a prioritized role in Soviet security and defence policy. There were numerous military bases, including those equipped with nuclear weapons. Significant parts of the Soviet defence industry complex were located on Ukrainian soil, which made the break-up a painful, complicated, and in many aspects, unfinished process. At the same time, Russia still considers Ukraine as a region of vital strategic importance. Consequently, the Kremlin did, does and will do everything possible to prevent Ukraine from joining the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) (Danilov 2009). Even the Ukrainian NATO approximation ambitions (especially in the reform of the armed forces) have generated harsh Russian criticism. One may recall the anti-NATO demonstrations in Crimea, several anti-NATO statements of various Russian politicians, and even the ill-fated anti-NATO referendum effort of the pro-Russian Ukrainian politician Viktor Medvedchuk in 2006 (Korduban 2007).

The presence of the Black Sea Fleet on Ukrainian soil is strongly connected to this problem. The pre-2010 Ukrainian governments perceived the presence of the Russian fleet as an imminent

³ The expression originates from the Russian term ближнее зарубежье (blizhneye zarubezhye), and is referring to the newly independent republics of the former Soviet Union. The term "common neighbourhood" is not commonly used in Russia.

⁴ Interview with Dmitry Danilov, director of the Centre for European Security Studies at the Institute of Europe of the Russian Academy of Sciences. Moscow, 13 November 2009.

security concern not only because of the warships themselves, but also due to the large number of Russian navy and security personnel stationed on the bases. Following the 'Orange Revolution' and the Ukrainian leadership choosing a more pro-Western and pro-NATO course, the presence of the Black Sea Fleet was considered as being a blocking element on Ukraine's way towards NATO. Thus, the planned complete withdrawal of the fleet by 2017 was long awaited by pro-Western political forces (BBC 2005).

Besides the Fleet's very presence, there were also several smaller scale insults and conflicts after 2004, but the situation significantly worsened during the war in Georgia. The Black Sea Fleet actively participated in the war: after defeating the Georgian navy, it blockaded the country during the conflict. However, Ukraine actively supported Georgia, both politically and by training, the shipment of military equipment, etc.5 This resulted in an obvious conflict of interests between Moscow and Kyiv. Besides condemning the Russian 'aggression' several times, President Yushchenko ordered to restrain the movements of Russian navy on Ukrainian waters. Ethnic tensions in the Republic got strengthened, especially after the return of the victorious Russian warships to Crimean ports (RFE/ RL 2008). Russia's recognition of Abkhazia and South Ossetia as independent countries induced further fears that Crimea could be the next case. The protection of Russian citizens could have easily been the pretext, while the fleet could have provided the necessary political and military backing.

However, the fleet-issue seems to be solved with the so-called Kharkiv agreement, signed by the new Ukrainian President Viktor Yanukovich and Russian President Dmitry Medvedev in April 2010. According to the deal, the presence of the Black Sea Fleet on Ukrainian soil will be extended by 25 years, until 2042 (Hedenskog 2010). This does not only mean a *de facto* hindrance of Ukraine's NATO membership in the near future, but also the enabling of Russia to maintain its military presence in Ukraine. Consequently, the status of Crimea will remain unsettled and will continue to be a source of further tensions in the relationship between Russia and Ukraine, being easily exploited by the former (Hedenskog 2010).

In addition to the fleet presence, Russia has maintained two additional bases in Ukraine, namely two early warning radar facilities, one in Mukachevo and the other one in Sevastopol. Moscow has already

announced in 2007 that these bases in Ukraine will be closed (RIA Novosti 2010) and similar facilities built on Russian soil, more exactly in Armavir, will take over their duties (WMD Insights, 2007 - 2008).

A third element of Russia's security and defence-related interests towards Ukraine is connected to the defence industry. It is a direct heritage of the Soviet period that numerous interconnections exist between the Russian and Ukrainian defence industry (Szabó 2009: 57). Moreover, Ukraine has enjoyed a monopolistic position in the production of weapons and parts of weapons until recently: helicopter and ship engines produced by the Motor Sich company in Zaporozhe, as well as air-to-air missiles, sensors, etc. Russia is striving to get rid of these outside dependencies, but this is supposed to take time. For example, though combat helicopter-engine building capabilities have been established in Russia, production numbers are still not sufficient. Thus Moscow still needs to rely on Kyiv. Besides, in other fields of industry, such as in the space rocket production, certain critical elements of the production line are still available only in Ukraine (Szabó 2009: 59).

However, despite these still existing interconnections between Russia and Ukraine, defence policy coordination has been very weak between the two countries, especially since the 'Orange Revolution'. Ukraine did not join the CIS formally, not to mention the Collective Security Treaty or later the CSTO, instead it chose GUAM⁶. and started to develop its relations with NATO. All these steps were well in line with the 'multi-vectorial' foreign policy pursued under former President Leonid Kuchma (Poti 2001). Moreover, since the 'Orange Revolution' there also have been concrete cases of tensions between the two armed forces: the most visible ones were connected to the Black Sea Fleet stationed in Crimea. Besides, before the August 2008 war Ukraine has been accused by Russia several times of supplying Georgia with weapons, an information that is confirmed by the public arms trade data of the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute.7

In the long run and in line with the diverging foreign and security policy objectives of Moscow and Kyiv, one can well count on decreasing defence-related interconnections between both countries (Szabó 2009: 70). Nevertheless, Russian military presence will supposedly be maintained in Ukraine,

⁵ Ukraine supplied the Georgian army with T-72 tanks, including the modified T-72 SIM-1s. In: "Georgia Army." Globalsecurity.org, http://www.globalsecurity.org/military/world/georgia/army.htm , accessed 10 Nov 2010.

⁶ GUAM is a regional organization, composed of Georgia, Ukraine, Azerbaijan and Moldova. The first letters of the country names give the acronym GUAM.

⁷ The Arms Transfers Database of the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute is accessible at armstrade.sipri.org.

whether in one form or the other, its main purpose 'only' being to keep Ukraine away from factually joining NATO.

Moldova

The security and defence aspect of the Russian-Moldovan relations is relatively simple. First and foremost, Moscow's main interest is to preserve its political and military influence in the region, which includes preventing Moldova from joining NATO. The primary tool of this is the presence of Russian troops in Transnistria. Initially, in 1999, Russia committed itself to withdraw these troops until 2002, this deadline being extended to 2003 later on. Finally Moscow started to claim that the remaining troops have been stationed there according to Russian-Transnistrian bilateral agreements, thus claiming that the Istanbul commitments did not apply to them. In summer 2008, Russia made a settlement offer: Moscow would have been ready to allow Moldova's re-unification and pull out its troops from Transnistria in exchange for Moldova giving up pro-NATO intentions and stepping out of GUAM (RFE/RL 2008). The Moldovan side rejected the proposal due to its political conditions which were unacceptable for the Moldovan government. Until recently Russia was basically satisfied with the status quo in the Moldova-Transnistria conflict. All the solutions proposed by Moscow included some key elements from the current situation, which made it very favourable for Moscow: legitimating the presence of Russian troops on Moldovan soil and thus ensuring Moldova's neutrality, guarantee of a de facto veto right for Transnistria in the unified state (regardless of the structure of the future state), recognition of the privatization that took place in Transnistria, etc. Characterizing the Russian attitude to the Transnistrian conflict more generally, Russia has rather been interested in prolonging the conflict than in solving it (Popescu 2005: 17). Though, taking the most recent negotiations of German Chancellor Angela Merkel and President Dmitry Medvedev into account, this attitude seems to change.

However, one has to note that besides the troops, gargantuan amounts of ex-Soviet ammunition are still located in Transnistria. Although, approximately 12.000 tons of the original 40.000 tons (!) have already been taken back to Russia in the early 2000s, the removal of the rest cannot only be a question of political will, but a technically complicated, dangerous and expensive task, due to the bad physical condition of the ammunition stored there.

As another tool of preserving influence, Russia has been constantly pressing Moldova in order to prevent closer relations with NATO. The efforts to make Moldova sign the Collective Security Treaty, and later to make it join the CSTO, were

aimed at this objective, though Moldova refused to comply.

The interesting element in this context is the constitutional neutrality of Moldova. The latter and a ban of any foreign troops on the territory of Moldova have been prescribed in the 1994 constitution. Russia tends to refer to the neutrality of Moldova when it pushes against any kind of closer cooperation with NATO. However, as expert Ion Marandici points out, the Russian military presence in Transnistria at the same time "shows a clear disregard of and represents an infringement on Moldova's permanent neutrality" (Marandici 2007: 2). The debates on neutrality did not prevent Moldova from deepening cooperation with NATO in the framework of the Individual Partnership Action Plan in 2006 (Marandici 2007: 3). Nevertheless, the Russian efforts seem to have achieved an important success when the then Communist-dominated government adopted the new National Security Strategy of Moldova in 2008, keeping the provision of permanent neutrality (moldova.org 2008: 6). The main question in this regard is how the new Moldovan government is going to perceive the foreign and security policy priorities set by its predecessor, and whether the constitution and the national security strategy remain unchanged.

An interesting and recent case was the option of deploying Russian missiles to the region of Transnistria, as an 'answer' to the U.S. plans to establish a missile defence base in Romania. This idea was voiced by the separatist leader Igor Smirnov in February 2010. However, the Kremlin quickly turned down this invitation by declaring that such a move "could trigger a serious regional conflict", thus being against Moscow's interests. This can be seen as a signal of Moscow intending to discuss the missile defence issue primarily with Washington, and not with smaller states (EurActiv.com 2010). Such a move also showed the limited importance of Moldova in the eyes of the Russian leadership in comparison to issues of global importance like the U.S.-Russia relations.

This chapter has shown that Russia has certain security and defence-related interests in countries of the common neighbourhood. The question to what extent these interests shape Russia's perceptions of EU policies in the common neighbourhood will be in the focus of the following chapter.

II The European Neighbourhood Policy towards the Common Neighbourhood - from a Russian Perspective

Russia has traditionally perceived Eastern Europe as its special sphere of interests, and this has particularly been true regarding the countries of the former Soviet Union. Thus it is not surprising, that the eastern enlargement of the EU was high on the agenda of Russian political debates way before it actually took place in 2004 (Baranovsky 2002: 125-128, 132-141). Especially the NATO and EU accessions of the Baltic States were perceived as an interference of the 'traditional' Russian sphere of influence.

Russia's perceptions of the ENP

As the eastern enlargement started to become reality in the early 2000s, the problems of Eastern Europe suddenly started to 'come closer' to the European Union. The birth of the ENP was in many aspects an answer to this challenge. The original "Wider Europe" proposal envisaged to involve Russia and offered it to have a stake in the EU's internal market (European Commission 2003). However, Russia was left out from the ENP, launched in 2004. According to both Russian and EU opinions, the exclusion took place mostly because Moscow rejected the idea of being put into the same category with small neighbours like Moldova. At the same time it demanded to be treated as a strategic partner of the EU (Selivanova 2008: 101).

Besides the prestige elements, Russia's motivations to stay out from the ENP could well be connected to the fact that Moscow was not consulted on the 2004 enlargement to a sufficient degree, although similar demands were voiced in line with negotiations to the Partnership and Cooperation Agreement (PCA) (Danilov 2009). The 'Wider Europe' proposal already brought Russian officials to claim that the PCA should be modified as a reaction to the EU enlargement and due to the intended strategic change (Grushko 2004: 22).

According to many Russian political and academic views. Poland intended to dominate the Eastern policy of the EU following the 2004 enlargement, pretending to be the outpost of the West in the East (Shishelina 2006: 54). The establishment of the Community of Democratic Choice "for the democratic states, which do not want to belong to the Russian zone of influence" was a demonstrative example (Bukharin 2006: 122). As Bukharin further argues, the Polish foreign policy was clearly directed against Russia, and indirectly against its strategic interests in the common neighbourhood, especially between 2005 and 2007. In the 'Solidary Country' (Solidarne Państwo) programme of the Marcinkiewicz-government, the NATO membership of Ukraine was planned to

take place in 2008. Furthermore, Poland actively supported the Belarusian opposition (Bukharin 2006: 123). Shishelina recognizes that besides irritating Russia, the Polish attitude was also a problem for the EU as a whole. It complicated the EU's attempts to improve relations with Russia (Shishelina 2006: 54-55), particularly with the veto during the start of negotiations on the new PCA.

Since its launch, the ENP has clearly been perceived in Russia as an EU-effort to extend its zone of influence in the post-Soviet region, and as the intention to decrease the power of Moscow (Selivanova 2008: 102). While the EU is pushing its foreign partners towards the adoption of European standards, legal approximation and regulatory harmonization, Russia in fact aims at increasing its influence over the given partner countries (Karaganov/Jurgens 2009: 72-80).

Unlike the EU, seemingly in favour of a more comprehensive and multilateral approach, Russia prefers to address the countries of the common neighbourhood bilaterally. This logic of action is identical to Russia's approach towards the EU in different policy fields: bilateral intergovernmental relations are preferred to negotiations with the EU as a whole. Russian experts openly admit and justify this behaviour claiming that Moscow has had many negative experiences with cooperating with the EU in the past, primarily with regard to Russia's accession to the World Trade Organization (WTO). Siberian overflights and the delayed start of the negotiations for the new PCA (Karaganov/Jurgens 2009: 109f.). At the same time, most successes in political and strategic dialogues were achieved on bilateral bases, primarily with Germany, France, Italy and Spain. The preference for the bilateral track also accounts for external trade and investment contacts. However, Russia's bilateral approach in the common neighbourhood meets with criticism: In a joint publication of the National Investment Council and the Institute of Economics of the Russian Academy of Sciences, the authors argue for the need of a comprehensive 'Russian neighbourhood policy' towards the countries of the former Soviet Union (Evropeyskaya politika sosedstva 2008: 127-129). The proposal suggests that all activities conducted in the common neighbourhood should be included in the negotiations on the new PCA. Besides, it advises that many aspects of the ENP should simply be copied and adopted to Russian standards and capabilities. Foreign trade and economic contacts are mentioned as elements of primary importance, which should be used in a highly preferential way in order to have a demonstrative effect as well. Moreover, given the EU's slowly developing relations with these states, the paper envisages the strengthening of various Russian-led regional integrations, especially the Customs Union with Belarus and Kazakhstan. Russia should bond the neighbouring 'states of European orientation' to itself, by realizing the political-military integration

in the frameworks of the CSTO, the Eurasian Economic Community and the Union State. Russia should also strive for membership, or for observer status as a minimum, in all organization operating on the territory of the common neighbourhood, just as the U.S. does in the GUAM.

Though at first glance the proposal appears to be rather aggressive, it also contains suggestions on the cooperation between the EU and Russia. It prescribes the launch of large-scale projects between the EU and the CIS and between the EU and the Eurasian Economic Community (EurAsEC) in the field of transcontinental infrastructures, East-West transport and traffic, etc. It also suggests that the PCA negotiations should deal with the creation of the legal-institutional framework of energy cooperation, because this would be of joint interest for the EU and Russia. So far no public reactions were made on this proposal.

Russia's reactions to the Eastern Partnership

Both the general analysis of Russia's sensitivities regarding the common neighbourhood and the more specific evaluation of the Russian attitude towards the EaP require a close consideration of the circumstances under which the EaP was born.

The original Polish-Swedish proposal (Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Poland, 2008) contained certain elements, which were perceived in Russia as hostile; especially both the support of the territorial integrity offered to the Eastern neighbours, and the committed promotion of democratic values were alarming signs for Russia. Moreover, following the August 2008 war in Georgia, the EU has openly declared that it was going to intensify the relations with the Eastern neighbours. It was stated that there was a connection between the EaP proposal and Russia's role in the Caucasus crisis, which made the initiative appear to be directed against Russia (Stewart 2009: 1). The EU seemed to stir Russia's apprehension: while discussing the EaP in autumn-winter 2008, the EU also granted a number of benefits to Ukraine, suspended the visa ban against numerous Belarusian leaders including Lukashenko, and started negotiations with Moldova on a possible accession to the Energy Community Treaty.

According to the mentioned documents, this impression on the anti-Russian nature of the EaP project was further strengthened by the fact that Russia could eventually play a secondary, 'third party' role in the partnership only. At the same time, some Russian experts – though vaguely – demanded the role of a 'controller' or 'observer' to be given to Moscow (Borko 2009). In other words, Russia criticised the EU because it made another step towards the common neighbourhood, without at least asking the opinion of Moscow. All in all, the Russian reactions were rather harsh; they accused the EU of

creating its own zone of influence, and of forcing the neighbouring countries to make a choice between the EU and Russia (Stewart 2009: 2). Similarly to the ENP, the EaP has also been perceived by experts as a type of "soft power" influence (Borko 2009).

The 23 March 2009 agreement between the EU and Ukraine on the European participation in the reconstruction of the gas transit infrastructure induced huge outcries in Moscow: Putin summoned a special press conference for condemning the deal, Medvedev cancelled the next round of consultations with Ukraine, and many official declarations warned the EU of trying to take control over the Ukrainian energy infrastructure, otherwise Russia could stop buying EU-made equipments for its energy sector (Górska 2009: 2-4). This seemed to be the first time that Russia perceived the EU's actions as a really serious blow on its energy positions in the post-Soviet region.

One has to admit that Russian concerns and demands have partially been taken into account during the elaboration of the EaP, and the final text differs from the previous version in a number of ways. The most significant modification was already mentioned; namely, the reference to the "consolidation of their [i.e. the partners, A.R] statehood and territorial integrity" was withdrawn. The change happened mostly in order not to cause diplomatic irritation in the Georgian post-war context and thus to ease the tensions with Moscow.

When the EaP was finally launched on 7 May 2009, the Russian minister of foreign affairs Sergei Lavrov commented that he was hoping the EU did not intend to make the neighbours choose between Russia and the EU (Lavrov 2009b). Nevertheless and generally speaking, Moscow has been fully aware of the limited importance and capacity of the EaP initiative, especially regarding its financial dimension (Chizhov 2009). Although the initiative itself is not perceived as something which would endanger the Russian influence in the region (Strelkov 2009: 11), both Russian and Western authors seem to agree that Moscow needs to pay particular attention to its energy-related dimension (ibid., Meister/May 2009: 2).

Concerning Belarus, a problematic country for the EaP (Meister/May 2009: 2), Moscow is concerned about the improving EU-Belarus relations. However, this is rather connected to the rapprochement in general and not to the EaP in particular. As Lavrov stated on 25 November 2009, Russia is not opposed to the Belarusian participation in certain EaP projects, because this is not seen as

⁸ One of the main advocates of the modifications – mainly aimed at easing the tensions with Moscow – was Germany (Végh 2009: 2).

a rival to the active participation of Belarus in the integration processes in the CIS area, including the EurAsEC and the Customs Union (Lavrov 2009a).

Regarding an eventual Russian participation in the framework of EaP, the final version of the EaP document leaves the door open for third party participation in certain projects. Russia's originally harsh reaction to this possibility seems to be softened. In November 2009, Lavrov did not rule out that Russia could join certain EaP projects (Lavrov 2009b). Nevertheless, Russia's behaviour remains dominantly passive (Danilov 2009). No initiatives have been proposed by Moscow as it seems to wait for any concrete EU proposal.

The thematic platforms and flagship initiatives raise more serious concerns in Russia than the general EaP initiative does. The proposal of providing border management assistance for the eastern partners means for Moscow that the EU would assist the strengthening of the – to date practically non-existent – Ukraine-Russia, Belarus-Russia and Azerbaijan-Russia borders. Thus it might be interpreted as an effort to isolate Russia via separating it from its neighbours (Danilov 2009).

The harsh Russian reactions to the 23 March 2009 EU-Ukraine agreement on the reconstruction the energy infrastructures demonstrate Russia's sensitivity: if the EU supports the Eastern neighbours in the reconstruction of their energy transit infrastructure, as the EaP also prescribes for the countries of the common neighbourhood, it hampers Russian efforts to take them over in order to ensure an uninterrupted westward flow of oil and gas, and to decrease the freedom of movement of the transit countries. From a strictly theoretical perspective of energy security, the security of transit gets improved anyways, as technological, infrastructural developments take place. However, the type of improvement requested by Russia and the EU differ completely.

Another reason for Russia's resentment towards the EaP relates to its approach concerning the phenomenon of weak statehood in the countries of the common neighbourhood. Russia has a set of leverages (Hedenskog/Larsson 2007), such as, *inter alia*, economic pressure, corruption, and energy supplies. These are used with the aim to hamper the functioning of state administrations in the common neighbourhood, exercised especially in Ukraine. However, the comprehensive institution-development plans in the EaP, based on the financial support of the European Investment Bank, seek to make the state administrations of the partner

countries more efficient and more transparent. Russia fears that the more the performance of the national administrations will improve, the more its potential to interfere and exercise informal pressure on the respective governments will decrease.

Another element of Russian concerns about both the ENP in general and the EaP in particular is their nature of "soft power" (Danilov 2009). When Western actors, including the EU, refer to the promotion of democratic values and the support of civil society, this is often connected in Russia with the so-called "coloured revolutions", which took place in several countries of the common neighbourhood. Thus support given to the local civil societies is often interpreted as Western efforts of 'destabilization'. The fact that the main beneficiaries of the EaP will be the state level public administrations, while only limited sums will be spent on the support of the civil societies (European Commission 2009: 4) does hardly change this general perception.

An additional, though less visible, element of growing importance is that Russia recognized the importance of 'soft power', and has started using its own resources. It already has a remarkable potential, for example through the Russian-speaking media and the visa-free travel in the CIS area (Popescu/ Wilson 2009: 27-39). Besides, there are a lot more possible reserves to be used, for example in the field of investment, science, education, culture, and via a further strengthening of the role of the Russian language in the CIS (Solovyov 2009). Some of the competent organizational structures are already set up and function, for example the Russkiy Mir Foundation, the Rossotrudnichestvo government agency, the Institute for Russians Abroad and some others (Lerhis/Kudors/Indāns: 2007). However, currently the activities are mostly limited on Russian ethnic minorities in the neighbouring countries. An 'opening up' to the wider public is taking place only with moderate pace – one could name, for example, the rapidly growing number of centres financed by the 'Russkiy Mir' not only in the CIS, but also in many EU countries. However, informal sources in the Russian expert community say that the coordination between various actors and agencies could be enhanced. As Russia is on the way to start a more active use of its 'soft power' capabilities, it obviously perceives similar activities of the EU as rivalling.

⁹ Interview with Susan Stewart, Research Fellow of the German Institute for International and Security Affairs, Berlin, 11 January 2010.

III Political Offers and Initiatives Towards the Common Neighbourhood

Similar to the EU, Russia operates a number of political tools in order to pursue its own interests in the countries of the common neighbourhood. One may call these moves either influence building (Popescu/Wilson 2009: 17) or legitimate realization of interests (Danilov 2009). Benefits and sanctions are used by both sides in their relations with the common neighbourhood. While the EU approach has been widely analyzed – and often criticized – by a number of experts, (for example Duleba 2008, Chilosi 2006), relevant Russian initiatives and policies towards the common neighbourhood seem to receive less attention in the West.

As an introduction, one has to see that both the original ENP and the EaP initiative use a clear wording: they do not imply any kind of accession perspective for the targeted countries, thus these policies must not be perceived as gateways to EU membership. The lack of membership perspective is regularly criticized by both West- and East-European experts, who argue that the EU deliberately deprives itself of its most effective foreign policy tool and motivation method (Duleba 2008). Regarding the political perspectives offered to the neighbours, EU policies are still conducted in line with Romano Prodi's famous sentence: neighbours may "share everything with the Union, but institutions" (Prodi 2002). However, as the Italian analyst Chilosi argued, even this promise was not likely to be fulfilled, simply because the EU has been unable to give the same economic advantages to the neighbours as it gives to its poorest members (Chilosi 2006: 3). With other words, even the promised "everything" has not been realized. Russia is aware of this structural weakness of the EU neighbourhood policy and tries to exploit it via offering alternative proposals.

Concerning positive political offers, Russia has a number of parallel proposals on the table. In addition to the present efforts to provide integration alternatives, there already have been two of such Russian initiatives in the past, which seriously changed the political landscape of the studied region. The first was the plan of the Russia-Belarus Union State, and the second was the Kozakmemorandum, a settlement proposal made in the Moldova-Transnistria conflict.

Efforts of Inducing Constitutional Changes

The Russia-Belarus Union State project goes back to the clearly pro-Russian course pursued by the Belarusian foreign policy in the late 1990s to the early 2000s. As Wilson and Rontoyanni argue (2004: 44), the motivation of Lukashenko was mainly to strengthen the social and economic stability of Belarus via getting into closer cooperation with Russia. Following a few preliminary agreements, the Treaty on the creation of a Union State with Russia and Belarus was signed in late 1999, with the ratification process finished 26 January 2000.

However, despite the official Belarusian enthusiasm about the Union State, the cooperation intention from the side of Minsk was limited to extract as many economic benefits and subsidies from Moscow as possible. As Belarus is a key transit country for the Russian energy shipments to Europe, Moscow had hardly any other choice than tolerating this behaviour. Though moderate Russian moves were already made in these times in order to take control over key Belarusian energy infrastructure, Minsk managed to resist the pressure via constantly delaying the privatization of the Beltransgaz company, the Mozhyr oil refinery, etc. The situation changed in August 2002, when Putin made Lukashenko choose between full-fledged integration to Russia, or a gradual integration based on the EU 'harmonization' model (Wilson/Rontoyanni 2004: 49). The first choice was obviously unacceptable for the Belarusian president, as he did not want to give up his position as president of a sovereign country. As Piontkovsky argues, Putin did not want Belarus to really become part of Russia, he only intended to end the demagogy around the Union State, and put the relationship on a more pragmatic basis (The Russian Journal 2002).

Since then, the Union State project has hardly made any real progress. Though a number of union institutions are set up – the Union State has its own budget, focusing mostly on issues of economy, trade, infrastructure, and in a growing extent security and defence – both the fundaments and the final political objective of the organization are still undefined. Ever since the above-mentioned proposal by Putin, Belarus has been lacking rhetorical and active enthusiasm in further integration with Russia. According to Sergey Kastsyan, deputy chairman of the foreign affairs committee of the lower house of the Belarusian parliament, the two sides understand the integration in a different way (RFE/RL's Belarus Service. Newsline 2008).

On the other hand, one may observe Moscow increasing the pressure on Belarus in certain policy fields, mainly in defence, energy, economy and foreign policy. The Union State project is one of many frameworks in which Russia intends to increase its influence over Belarus. Put differently, it has been degraded from a political objective to a

political tool.

The story of the Kozak-memorandum also reveals Russia's efforts to induce institutional change. In late 2003, Russia proposed a settlement plan for the Transnistrian conflict to the Moldovan government. The latter prescribed the federalist reunification of Moldova in a way which would have empowered Transnistria to have a veto right over all important decisions of the whole state (Löwenhardt 2004: 6). The reject of the Kozak-memorandum by the Moldovan president resulted in a lasting cool-down of the Russian-Moldovan relations. If the memorandum had been successfully realized. it would not only have changed the constitutional system of Moldova, but would have also conserved the legitimate presence of Russian troops in the country for another two decades.

Providing integration alternatives

Though the fundamental re-shaping of the political

landscape in Eastern-Europe seems to be currently off the Russian political agenda, Moscow keeps pursuing its own interests via "presenting itself as an alternative" to a Western integration (Popescu/Wilson 2009: 29). Moscow encourages the neighbouring countries to favour the international organizations dominated by Russia, instead of longing for either EU or NATO accession. They should either join these organizations, if they are not members yet (such as Ukraine in the CIS, or Belarus to the new Customs Union), or be more active members (Moldova in the CIS, or Belarus in the CSTO) (Danilov 2009).

The particularity of the Russian-dominated network of international organizations is their much more limited focus of issues than the EU's, pursuing the overall goal of a constantly deepening integration in the common neighbourhood. Though the author does not aspire to provide a full list of functions, a short overview on competencies and members of the Russian-dominated organizations might still be useful:

Organization	Established	Full members	Main functions	
Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS)	1991	Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Moldova, Russia, Tajikistan, Uzbekistan (+ Ukraine as participating non-member)	Political coordination Economic cooperation Loose security and defence cooperation	
Collective Security Treaty Organization (CSTO)	2002	Armenia, Belarus, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Russia, Tajikistan, Uzbekistan	Security and defence cooperation, mutual defence guarantee, defence industry cooperation	
Union State of Russia and Belarus	1999	Russia, Belarus	Political coordination (limited functioning) Security and defence cooperation Economic cooperation, joint investment and development projects Cultural links	
Eurasian Economic Community (EurAsEC)	2006	Belarus, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Russia, Tajikistan, Uzbekistan	Economic cooperation	
Common Economic Space / Customs Union of the EurAsEc	2010	Belarus, Kazakhstan, Russia	Intensified economic cooperation, customs union	
Shanghai Cooperation Organization (SCO)	2001	China, Russia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Uzbekistan	Cooperation on security, defence, mainly against terrorism and separatism Economic cooperation, energy Cultural cooperation, research, education	

Table 1: Overview on competencies and members of the Russian-dominated organizations.

The overlapping memberships in the various Russian-led integration structures apply mostly to the Central-Asian republics as well as Belarus, while Ukraine and Moldova are participating only in the CIS. Georgia has stepped out even of this latter organization in 2009. Membership and participation in Russian-led integration structures can be used as indicators of how close the relationship between a given state and Russia is. Of the three Western neighbourhood countries studied, only Belarus has been favouring membership in almost all Russian-initiated integration structures, while Ukraine and Moldova have been much more reluctant in this regard.

Some of the (Russian-led) organizations are often perceived as mirror-images of Western integration, such as the CSTO as an equivalent of NATO, or EurAsEC as an answer to the European Economic Area (Popescu/Wilson 2009: 30). Though there is an element of truth in this comparison, the picture is (slightly) more complicated, concerning both the economic and the security dimension. Preserving the economic ties originating from the former Soviet Union was enough of an essential motivation behind establishing the CIS in 1991. The plan to create a Single Economic Space with the membership of Russia, Ukraine, Belarus and Kazakhstan was regarded as a natural step forward, being finalized in 2003. But the victory of the 'Orange Revolution' in Ukraine put the proposal to a halt, as the new Ukrainian leadership started to pursue a pro-European course instead.

Membership in the Russian-led organizations offer easy-to-get economic benefits, such as free trade, a customs union, subsidized energy prices, etc. Besides, they also serve as tools of exercising pressure in a way that they either prevent, or hamper joining Western organizations. The already mentioned Single Economic Space project had an "express purpose" to keep Ukraine away from the EU and NATO (Trenin 2007: 200). One of the most recent examples is the WTO. With the signing of the Customs Union agreement in the framework of the Common Economic Space of the EurAsEC in 2009, Moscow effectively prevented both Kazakhstan and Belarus from joining the WTO, if Russian membership in the latter organization would be blocked. As Russian Prime Minister Vladimir Putin put it in June 2009, when the establishment of the Customs Union was already in its final phase: "Russia, Belarus and Kazakhstan intend to join the WTO as a single customs union, not individually" (RIA Novosti 2009). Another Russian-led sub-regional organization, the CSTO also has such a political preventive function.¹⁰

A typical element of this strategy aiming at 'providing an alternative' is that Russia successfully presents these regional organizations as respected players of the international arena. For example, CSTO has achieved observer status in the UN General Assembly, CIS regularly sends election observers to all elections which take place in the post-Soviet region. Besides, CSTO was recognized both by the OSCE and the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO). There are also plans to start cooperation with NATO, especially in Afghanistan.

President Medvedev's new European Security Treaty proposal contains similar elements, as it mentions both the CSTO and the CIS as possible participants of the new agreement next to EU, OSCE and NATO (President of Russia 2009). To sum up, the intents to present these Russian-dominated organizations as legitimate and equal to the Western ones are clearly visible.

However, the Russian approach providing integration alternatives also has its own weaknesses. Namely, the targeted countries, i.e. countries of the common neighbourhood and Central-Asian countries, show a tendency of using these organizations as forums for bargaining with Russia over receiving newer and greater economic and political benefits. 11 If the Russian offer is not attractive enough, they might easily turn towards the EU (like Ukraine and Belarus do), the U.S. or China (like Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan do) in order to either convince Russia to grant the requested benefits, or receive it from the other 'great powers' interested in the region. Although these weaknesses are recognized by the Kremlin (Danilov 2009), to date there seems to be no successful Russian effort to counteract them. As shown above, its offer and proposals remain mostly unattractive.

This issue will be addressed in more detail in the next chapter under the aspect of political restrictive measures.

¹¹ Meister: Interview with Dr. Stefan Meister, Research Fellow of Deutsche Gesellschaft für Auswärtige Politik, 23 February 2010, Berlin.

IV Restrictive Political Measures Used in the Common Neighbourhood

Apart from the political offers and initiatives discussed in the previous chapter, Moscow also has a rich inventory of various restrictive measures, aiming at influencing, pressurizing and sometimes openly forcing governments of the neighbouring countries to comply with the Russian will. Three main types of these restrictive political measures, which have the greatest influence on the three countries studied, will be discussed. The analyzed measures are (1) support for separatism, (2) trade embargoes, and (3) immigration restrictions.

Supporting Separatism

Both Moldova and Ukraine face threats of territorial separatism. In Moldova, the existence of the de facto independent 'Republic of Transnistria' depends mostly and almost exclusively on Russia. Even during the civil war of 1992, separatists could resist Moldova only with the support of the 14th Russian Army stationed there (King 2000: 194). The ceasefire agreement, signed on 27th July 1992, that ended the armed phase of the conflict, was also negotiated under Russian influence and already recognized Transnistria as an independent actor (in the threesided Joint Control Commission both Transnistria and Russia were given one of the seats). Transnistria is also included in the five-sided negotiation format, composed of Moldova, Ukraine, Russia, Transnistria and the OSCE. As decision-making in both bodies has been based on consensus, this allows the separatists to block every settlement initiative they want and to pursue the prolongation of the conflict. Besides, as already explained, Russia maintained the presence of its peacekeeping forces in the region, thus preventing Moldova from re-unifying its territory.

However, the most important element of Russian support given to Transnistria is the economic one. First and foremost, Transnistria has paid almost nothing for the gas used in the last 20 years. This cheap (i.e. practically free) energy has therefore kept the economy and industry of the separatist republic running. Up to now, the gas debt of Transnistria accounts to over 1,7 billion dollars (AZI.MD 2008:12:18). Moreover, Gazprom counts the debt accumulated by Transnistria to the gas debt of Moldova, which means that Chisinau will also have to pay for the consumption of the separatist region. Moreover, Moscow regularly provides Transnistria with 'humanitarian aid', which allows the separatist regime to increase pensions, run the school system, etc. For example, in 2007-2008 Transnistria received 30 million USD from Russia to overcome the drought consequences. A year later, another 14 million was transferred in order to help Transnistria to cope with

the global financial crisis (Moldova.org 2009).

Concerning Ukraine, the Russian support of separatist forces is of a more complex nature. The region of primary importance is Crimea. As a territory it was transferred to the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic only in 1954 and since the dissolution of the Soviet Union the status of the territory has constantly been on the Russian-Ukrainian agenda, despite the autonomy that the Republic of Crimea enjoys inside Ukraine. It has its own parliament and political parties. though the judicial system of Ukraine is applied here. This and the Russian Black Sea Fleet stationed here, provides a fertile ground for separatism. Since the break-up of the Soviet Union, Moscow has kept supporting various Russian nationalist forces in the Crimea in order to put pressure on the central government in Kyiv. In 2006, a coalition of the Party of Regions of current president Yanukovich won almost 70% of the seats in the Crimean Parliament. Another member of the coalition was an extremist pro-Russian party, reportedly financed by Moscow mayor Yuriy Luzhkov. They demanded the recognition of Russian as an official language and the allowance of dual citizenship – acts, which were against the laws of Ukraine (Hedenskog/Larsson 2006: 38). Besides, in order to hamper the then on-going Ukraine-NATO approximation, large anti-NATO rallies were organized in June. As a result, not only had the first-ever NATO Partnership for Peace military exercise had to be cancelled, but the demonstrations also contributed to the collapse of the governing coalition of the parties of the 'Orange Revolution' (Hedenskog/Larsson 2006: 39).

Until very recently, Russia has actively tried to incite ethnic tensions between the Tatar minority in the Crimea and ethnic Slavs. Experts claim that the reasons behind this were manifold. First, if Crimean Tatars were radicalized, they would lose support of their biggest donor, secular Turkey. As a side-effect, the regional influence of Turkey would also decrease. Second, sharpening ethnic tensions in the regions weakened the central government in Kyiv. Third, referring to the danger of growing Islamic radicalization, Russia could increase its forces stationed in Crimea in order to protect Russian citizens (Hedenskog/Larsson 2006: 40). However, with the new pro-Russian government coming to power in Ukraine, Russian-Ukrainian tensions over Crimea will probably decrease quickly.

As Russian security services have been usually involved in Crimean matters, a long debate in December 2009 was followed by the Ukrainian order to all FSB-agents attached to the Black Sea Fleet to leave Ukraine (Hedenskog 2010: 2). However, in May 2010 the new Azarov government has ordered Ukrainian security services to stop counter-intelligence activities against Russian FSB agents operating in Ukraine, "as a gesture of goodwill and to demonstrate new policies," as the agreement puts it (RIA Novosti 2010).

Besides Crimea, there is another, though

small and marginal separatist movement in Ukraine, which also enjoys Russian support, namely the one of the ethnic Rusyns. The Rusyn minority lives mostly in the Zakarpatya region of Ukraine. Their ethnic movement strives mostly for being recognized as a separate nation among the ones living in Ukraine and for some cultural rights (Belitser 2000: 15). However, some radical leaders, for example Dmytro Sidor, voiced the need for some form of territorial autonomy more than once. In reality, the situation has no escalation potential, as Rusyns are rather small in terms of population, are not organized and their ethnic identity is weak. However, financing and supporting such a movement has been used by Moscow to put additional pressure on Kyiv.

Trade Embargoes

Misusing trade relations connecting Russia with the post-Soviet countries is an obvious tool for the Kremlin to influence the politics of its neighbours. Compared to the well-known and well-documented energy cuts, trade embargoes have a huge advantage: they do not directly affect any other country except the targeted one, and especially not the rich, Western consumers of Russian energy and raw materials. Thus the chances of any outside pressure or intervention are much lower. Concerning the three countries of the common neighbourhood, Moscow has used trade embargoes relatively frequently. Both with Belarus and Moldova there have been regular clashes mostly connected to the import of agricultural products to Russia. 12

For example, in 2005 a serious Belarusian-Russian conflict took place over the price of the sugar imported from Belarus. Belarusian producers took advantage of a valid intergovernmental agreement, through which they were able to export their products to Russia at a much lower price than the Russian producers could offer (Kommersant 2005). Though the debate was temporarily settled, the issue came up again in June 2007 (Democraticbelarus.eu 2007). The then introduced Russian import ban had a clear political motivation (along with its economic nature) which entailed the take over of several Belarusian milk plants. The technical reasoning of the ban were the irregularities experienced in the packaging of Belarusian milk products (Time 2009).

On the other hand, regardless of these temporary conflicts, trade relations between Russia

and Belarus are uniquely close in the post-Soviet region, owing to the creation of the so-called Union State in the late 1990s. They are to become even closer with the establishment of the Customs Union of Russia, Belarus and Kazakhstan on 1st January 2010

While one could consider the 2005 conflict over the Belarusian sugar import to be primarily of an economic nature, the ban put on the Moldovan wine import a year later was clearly different. Following the 2005 elections in Moldova, when President Vladimir Voronin pursued an increasingly pro-Western foreign policy (at least at that time), Russia banned the import of Moldovan (and actually Georgian) wines and other alcoholic products in March 2006. The official reasoning was the same in both cases. Gennadiy Onishchenko, Head of the Rospotrebnadzor (Russian Consumer Protection Agency) argued that heavy metals and pesticides were found in these wines. Thus their import would have endangered the health of Russian consumers. The step delivered a serious blow to Moldovan and Georgian agricultural business, as Russia had an export market share of 80-90%.

The political nature of this ban on Moldovan wine products became apparent, when an article was published in the Russian newspaper *Kommersant* with the telling title: "The Plan of Victory Over Moldova" (Kommersant 2005). Here the measures necessary for preventing "Moldova's further lean on the West" were explicitly listed, among them the ban of Moldovan agricultural goods. As the article puts it, 'technical reasons' could easily serve as a pretext – so they did, as demonstrated above. "

The history of Russian agricultural import bans on the neighbouring countries did not end in 2007. Two years later, another conflict came up over the milk exported to Russia, this time with Belarus. In June 2009, Moscow banned the import of Belarusian milk products, once again voicing sanitary concerns (Time 2009). The background reasons might well be connected to the increasingly pro-Western oriented policy of Lukashenko, as well as to the ongoing debates of Belarus and Russia over the rising energy prices and the gradual take over of key Belarusian companies by Russian investors. The ban struck the Belarusian economy seriously. In 2008, Russia bought up almost 93% of Belarusian meat and dairy products (Time 2009).

However, compared to Moldova, Belarus has

¹² Of course, the visibility of such trade conflicts largely depends on the overall international attention paid to the region. These issues started to appear in Western media only from early 2000s, parallel to the already mentioned growing importance of the Eastern neighbourhood.

Concerning Georgia, the political nature of the ban could also hardly be questioned, taking into account the remarkably anti-Russian policy of Mikheil Saakashvili. Though an interesting side-story is that as a reward for his anti-Georgian action, Onishchenko was granted honorary citizenship by the 'president of South-Ossetia, Eduard Kokoyti in 2009 (RIA Novosti 2009).

two relative advantages in resisting various negative Russian measures. The first one is its already discussed key transit position on the way of Russian oil and gas exports to Europe. Second, Belarus is able to block the gas electricity supply of Kaliningrad. Minsk has used this threat in January 2010 during the actual debate of Russia over the transit price of oil (Charter97.org 2010). The Belarusian capability to block the transit was also used as a threat during the recent gas dispute between Moscow and Minsk over their mutual gas price debts, which took place in late June 2010 (EurActiv.com 2010).

Immigration Restrictions

Guest workers coming from countries of the former Soviet Union are integral parts of the labour market of the Russian Federation. Their number is hard to estimate, due to the fact that many of them reside and work in Russia illegally or semi-legally. According to Federal Migration Service data, in 2005 there were about 15 million illegal guest workers in Russia, 80% of whom were citizens of former Soviet Union states (Pravda.ru 2005). The main source countries have been the Central-Asian republics, Moldova, Azerbaijan and Georgia.

As guest workers mostly send the earned money back to their home countries, they make an important contribution to the economy of their home states. For example, in the case of Moldova, according to World Bank data, the remittances of guest workers provide approximately one-third of the country's GDP (AllMoldova.com 2010). Therefore, if a host country – Russia in the current example – decides to restrict its immigration policy towards guest workers, it can easily damage the home countries of the guest workers economically. This is an integral part of Russia's policy towards countries of the former Soviet Union.¹⁴

From the three countries of the common neighbourhood, Belarus is the least affected. This is due to the framework of the Union State, which makes working in Russia a relatively simple process for a Belarusian citizen. However, in the case of Moldova the issue of guest workers is a serious one. Already during the parliamentary elections in 2005, Russia tried to pressurize President Voronin by introducing restrictions to Moldovan guest workers (Jamestown.org 2005), and the above mentioned "The Plan of Victory Over Moldova" has also named expelling guest workers as an important political tool against Moldova.

However, the situation appears to be changing. Since 2007, new laws on labour migration were passed in order to legalize as many guest workers as possible and in order to increase budget incomes. Immigration helps Russia to fill gaps in the labour market, mostly in construction, retail trade, services, public transportation, etc. Approximately 80% of all migrants are not required to have any qualification, thus they compete with unskilled Russians only. Moreover, their expected wages are much lower than those of Russian workers (Euromonitor 2007). Besides simply attracting labour force, there are also other motivations beyond the surface. According to Tatiana Golikova, Russian Minister for Health and Social Development, immigrants also play a role in sustaining the population growth (RIA Novosti 2009). In February 2010, President Dmitry Medvedev has announced that immigration restrictions are to be further eased for highly qualified labour force, primarily for doctors, engineers, etc. (RIA Novosti 2010). This policy is called 'optimization of immigration'. However, it is important to keep in mind that all these changes do not exclude any sudden backlash. The Kremlin may for instance decide to tighten the control of guest workers coming from one particular country or another. All in all, immigration restrictions as political tools are still not taken out of the Russian political inventory, since, as shown above, Russia is in the position to pull the strings in its own interest.

One may easily remember, when in 2006 Russia decided to deport Georgian guest workers en masse (BBC News 2006:10:5), and this was not the only case indeed.

Conclusions

The paper has shown that Russia perceives the common neighbourhood as a region that belongs to its own zone of influence. This attitude is based primarily on the historical legacy, and is further supported by the ongoing presence of Russian military forces in the analysed countries. The Russian forces stationed in these states are important not only from the geo-strategic point of view, but also for exercising direct political influence on them. Belarus is declared to be the most important security and defence ally of the Russian Federation, due to the Russian bases there and the ongoing integration of the military structures of both countries. The Russian Black Sea Fleet, whose presence was further extended by the Kharkiv Agreement until 2042, de facto excludes the NATO accession of Ukraine in the long run, even if the Alliance would be ready for the Eastern enlargement. In Moldova, the Russian peacekeeping forces stationed in Transnistria de facto guarantee the existence of the separatist 'Republic' by their very presence. Moreover, as long as the territorial integrity of Moldova is not restored, neither a NATO, nor a EU-accession of the country is possible. Thus Chisinau will not be able to leave the Russian sphere of influence in this regard.

When the EU started its neighbourhood policy, Russia articulated its opposing position openly. Though Russia was still included in the Wider Europe initiative, Moscow decided to stay out of the ENP, claiming that Russia was an equal, strategic partner of the EU, and not simply a neighbour. The development of the ENP was perceived in Moscow as an EU effort to build its own zone of influence in a region, that belonged to the 'near abroad' of Russia. However, Russia gave only careful, moderate reactions to the final version of the EaP, launched in 2009. Russian officials did not even exclude the possibility of cooperating with the EU on certain issues, though no concrete proposals were made. Most probably, Moscow has been aware of the weaknesses of the EU's neighbourhood policy. e.g. that neither the ENP, nor the EaP itself would be able to politically turn away countries of the common neighbourhood from Russia.

Russia already made two efforts in the late 1990s and early 2000s to ensure the loyalty of the neighbouring states by inducing constitutional change. The project of the Union State of Russia and Belarus seemingly stalled due to the limited cooperativeness of the Belarusian side, while the so-called Kozak-memorandum was openly refused by Moldova in 2003. Besides these efforts, Russia has been providing a number of integration options to the region, in order to ensure that the countries of the common neighbourhood would favour the Russian orientation to the Western option. Unlike the EU, the Russia-dominated organizations are not comprehensive (with the exception of the CIS,

formed already in 1992), but rather focused ones. The CSTO has a security and defence cooperation as its main profile, while the Eurasian Economic Community and the newly established Customs Union are of economic purpose. As Wilson and Popescu argue, these Russian initiatives and political offers are easier to access and to understand by the neighbours than the sometimes complicated and blurry EU policies directed towards the neighbourhood (Popescu/Wilson 2009: 27).

In case of non-compliance, Russia has a number of political tools to put pressure on the countries of the common neighbourhood. Besides the well-known politicization of the energy prices, supporting separatist movements, introducing trade embargoes and immigration restrictions are also integral parts of the Russian political inventory. However, though the choice of restrictive measures is relatively rich and hard power influence is ensured by the military presence, Russian experts admit that in terms of 'soft power' Russia is much weaker than the European Union. There would be much room for improvement in terms of using cultural influence, media power, scientific contacts and economic links. In Russian foreign policy concepts the idea of literally copying the ENP is emerging, e.g. to set up a 'Russian Neighbourhood Policy' towards countries of the post-Soviet region, in order to provide indeed attractive political and economic offers.

Space for cooperation between the EU and Russia in the common neighbourhood?

If one puts aside the Russian efforts to provide alternatives to Western influence, theoretically there is a definite overlapping of EU and Russian interests at least in one fundamental question. This issue is the future EU-accession - and also the NATO accession - of the three countries studied. Interestingly enough, the EU and Russia seem to be of the same opinion, and pursue the same objectives, though with different background motivations. From the side of the EU, mentioning the accession perspective is constantly missing from the relevant documents, only approximation is on the agenda. Statements are firm: no further Eastern enlargement is possible in the near future. The Russian objectives are basically the same: preventing the three studied countries from joining the EU and NATO. This is why Russia strives for maintaining its troop presence, offers alternative integration formats, and reacts distanced and opposing, whenever it perceives the EU to 'intervene in Russian spheres of influence'. However, though the theoretic overlapping of strategic interests is present hereby, hardly any cooperation could be built on that. The reason for this is the obvious and fundamental difference of the EU and Russian attitudes towards these countries: the antagonism of gradual approximation promoted by the EU versus the 'status quo' approach of Russia. All in all, the lack of accession perspectives from the EU side, and the lack of attractive political alternatives presented from the Russian side seem to condemn these states to remain in an in-between position in the near future.

The complete re-orientation towards Russia does not seem to be on the agenda in Minsk, Kyiv and Chisinau. During the parliamentary and presidential elections of the recent years, no serious candidates have campaigned with a clearly pro-Russian agenda in any of these states. This means a significant change compared to the early and mid-2000s. In the pre-Revolution Ukraine, Yanukovich campaigned with a strongly Russia-oriented and anti-Western programme. In Moldova, the ruling Communist party enjoyed Russian support during the 2005 elections, not to mention the fraudulent Belarusian referendum in 2004, which permitted Lukashenko to run for a third time for presidency. Nowadays, the situation has become different, as it was most recently visible in Ukraine. Viktor Yanukovich won the elections with a foreign policy programme, which aimed at having a pragmatic relationship both with the West and Russia. Even though Yanukovich is getting Ukraine increasingly closer to Russia with the Kharkhivagreement (Hedenskog 2010: 2), this may only be a backlash effect that follows the mostly pro-Western course of the previous five years.

States of the common neighbourhood share one attitude in their relations towards the EU and Russia: namely that they are ready to utilize their in-between positions (Meister 2010). They show a tendency of playing the two actors off against each other: if one benefit is not granted by one, it is still possible to turn to the other. Both foreign and trade policies serve as good examples for this. By using a more positive wording, one could say that the era of 'multi-vectorialism' (a term originally connected to former Ukrainian president Leonid Kuchma) is returning in these countries. Besides, the countries of the common neighbourhood could also try to play off the EU against Russia in order to avoid necessary. but painful domestic political and economic reforms (Popescu/Wilson 2009: 25).

Against this 'bifocal' attitude of the neighbours, there would actually be room for pragmatic, ideology-free coordination between the EU and Russia. This is especially true in fields which are of mutual importance for both Brussels and Moscow. The most important one is energy security, more concretely the security of energy transit through the common neighbourhood, as the uninterrupted flow of oil and gas is crucial both for the EU and Russia.

Similar areas of coordination could be various fields of security: nuclear safety and security, WMD-proliferation, fight against terrorism, fight against drug trade, etc. In these fields it is of mutual interest for the EU and Russia to encourage and facilitate the necessary reforms in the common neighbourhood. However, focal points in security

cooperation should be selected with care. For example, putting the general term 'fighting against organized crime' on the agenda, one could not be sure that all important actors of the Russian elites would be ready for honest cooperation. However, the inflow of drugs from the region of Afghanistan is clearly a common threat, so is the spread of radical Islam terrorism. Obviously, not only coordination over the common neighbourhood, but also closer direct EU-Russia cooperation would definitely be of help. Concerning the Russian attitude to the EaP initiative, despite the efforts to counter various Western policy initiatives, Russia is far from being completely against cooperation with the EU in the common neighbourhood. Though the option of third party involvement did not meet enthusiasm in Moscow, there was no open refusal. Official reactions were moderate, not ruling out the possibility of future cooperation. However, experts assess the options of cooperation with the EU pessimistically. Since the Russian attitude is dominated by passivity, there are no proposals from the central government in Moscow. This means that the EU mostly needs to initiate any further cooperation.

Bibliography

AllMoldova.com (2010): "The volume of remittances to Moldova from individuals from abroad through the commercial banks in I quarter of 2010 totalled \$ 233.4 million." 6 May 2010.

http://www.allmoldova.com/en/moldova-news/economics/1249047192.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

AZI.MD (2008): "Synthesized vision on the Transnistrian problem." 18 December 2008. http://www.azi.md/en/investigation/629, accessed 10 February 2010.

Baranovsky, Vladimir (2002): *Russia's Attitute Towards the EU: Political Aspects*. Helsinki-Berlin: Ulkopoliittinen instituutti - Institut für Europäische Politik.

BBC News (2005): "Russian fleet in Crimean doldrums." 15 Aug 2008. http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/europe/4153800.stm, accessed 10 November 2010.

BBC News (2006): "Russia turns screw on Georgians." 5 Oct 2006. http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/5408842.stm, accessed 10 February 2010.

Belitser, Natalya (2000): "Political and Ethno-Cultural Aspects of the Rusyns' problem: A Ukrainian Perspective." Research paper prepared within the Programme on European Security (PROGRES) sponsored by the Centre for European Security Studies and the University of Groningen. Groningen: Centre for European Security Studies.

Borko, Yuriy (2009): "Восточное партнерство: политический альянс или вариант Евросоюза." ["Eastern Partnership: Political Alliance or a Variant of the European Union."] Interview. *Vesti.* 20 March 2009. http://www.vesti.ru/doc.html?id=265103, accessed 10 February 2010.

Böttger, Katrin (2010) Die Entstehung und Entwicklung der Europäischen Nachbarschaftspolitik. Akteure und Koalitionen. Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.

Bukharin, Nikolay (2006): "Tchlenstvo Polshi v ES i rossiysko-polskiye otnosheni'i." ["Poland's EU Membership and the Russian-Polish Relations."] *Contribution at the 6th International Scientific Conference Russia and Central Europe in the New Geopolitical Realities*. Moscow, 8-9 September 2006.

Charter97.org (2008): "Russian generals want to deploy missiles and bombers in Belarus." 1 August 2008. http://www.charter97.org/en/news/2008/8/1/8625/, accessed 10 February 2010.

Charter97.org (2010): "Belarus ready to cut transit of electricity to Lithuania and Kaliningrad." 5 January 2010. http://charter97.org/en/news/2010/1/5/25130/, accessed 10 February 2010.

Chilosi, Alberto (2006): "The European Union and its neighbours: 'Everything but institutions'?" *MPRA Paper* No. 3386, Munich: University of Munich.

http://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/3386/1/MPRA_paper_3386.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

Chizhov, Vladimir (2009): Interview with Vladimir Chizhov, Permanent Representative of the Russian Federation to the EU. 18 May 2009.

http://www.mid.ru/Brp_4.nsf/arh/C44A54912A9FC157C32575BA002A6346?OpenDocument, accessed 10 February 2010.

Commission of the European Communities (2003): "Wider Europe— Neighbourhood: A New Framework for Relations with our Eastern and Southern Neighbours." COM(2003) 104 final. Brussels. http://ec.europa.eu/world/enp/pdf/com03_104_en.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

Council of the European Union (2008): "EU Best Practices for the effective implementation of restrictive measures." 8666/1/08. Brussels. 24 April 2008.

http://register.consilium.europa.eu/pdf/en/08/st08/st08666-re01.en08.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

Council of the European Union (2009): "*EU – Republic of Moldova Cooperation Council.*" 17732/09. Brussels. 21 December 2009.

http://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms_Data/docs/pressdata/en/er/112025.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

Democraticbelarus.eu (2007): "Russia does not allow Belarus to increase sugar supplies." 21 August 2007. http://www.democraticbelarus.eu/node/2045, accessed 10 February 2010.

Duleba, Alexander (2008): "The ENP Tools. Lessons Learned and Thinking about a Follow Up." *International Issues & Slovak Foreign Policy Affairs* 4/2008: 51-77.

Emerson, Michael/Gergana Noutcheva (2007): "European Neighbourhood Policy Two Years on: Time indeed for an 'ENP Plus'." *CEPS Policy Briefs*. Brussels: CEPS.

EurActiv.com (2010): "Belarus stops gas transit to the West." 23 June 2010.

http://www.euractiv.com/en/energy/belarus-stops-gas-transit-west-news-495494, accessed 10 February 2010.

EurActiv.com (2010): "Russia tells small players to step back from missile shield stand-off." 16 February 2010.

http://www.euractiv.com/en/enlargement/russia-tells-small-players-step-back-missile-shield-standoff, accessed 10 February 2010.

Eurasianet.org (2006): "Russia Creates a New Security System to Replace the C.I.S." 10 January 2006. http://www.eurasianet.org/departments/insight/articles/pp011106.shtml, accessed 10 February 2010.

Euromonitor (2007): "Russia's new immigration policy will boost the population." 14 June 2007. http://www.euromonitor.com/Russias_new_immigration_policy_will_boost_the_population, accessed 10 February 2010.

European Commission – External Relations (2010): "*EU-Ukraine Association Agenda*." Brussels. http://ec.europa.eu/external_relations/ukraine/docs/2010_eu_ukraine_association_agenda_en.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

European Commission – External Relations (2010): "List of the EU-Ukraine Association Agenda priorities for 2010." Brussels.

http://ec.europa.eu/external_relations/ukraine/docs/2010_association_agenda_priorities_en.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

European Commission (2005): "EU-Moldova Action Plan." Brussels.

http://ec.europa.eu/world/enp/pdf/action_plans/moldova_enp_ap_final_en.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

European Commission (2006): "Non-paper: What the European Union could bring to Belarus?" Brussels: European Commission, 21 November 2006.

http://ec.europa.eu/delegations/belarus/documents/eu_belarus/non_paper_1106.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

European Commission – External Relations Directorate General/Directorate European Neighbourhood Policy (2009): "Vademecum on financing in the frame of the Eastern Partnership."

http://ec.europa.eu/external_relations/eastern/docs/eap_vademecum_14122009_en.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

European Parliament (2008): "Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council. Eastern Partnership." COM(2008) 823 final. Brussels. 3 December 2008.

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2008:0823:FIN:EN:PDF, accessed 10 February 2010.

European Union Border Assistance Mission to Moldova and Ukraine (2010): "EUBAM and security services of Moldova and Ukraine enhance border cooperation." 16 February 2010.

http://www.eubam.org/index.php?action=show&sid=chdn5pljelqbe7nl3vsgat3fug3zcc7e&id=790, accessed 10 February 2010.

Globalsecurity.org (s.t.): "Georgia Army." http://www.globalsecurity.org/military/world/georgia/army.htm, accessed 10 November 2010.

Górska, Anna (2009): "Russia objects to EU-Ukrainian gas co-operation", *EastWeek*, Issue 12(162). 25 March 2009. Warsaw: Centre for Eastern Studies.

Grushko, Alexandr (2004): "Rossiyskiy vzglyad na kontseptsiyu Shirokoy Evropi." ["Russian View on the Wider Europe Concept."] *Russia and the European Union: Good Neighbours But Not Relatives? Discussions.* Moscow: Committee Russian in the United Europe, 22-32.

Hajduk, Kirill / Vitali Silitski (2007): "After the GSP Withdrawal: the Case for the Revision of the EU Policy Towards Belarus." Belarusian Institute for Strategic Studies.

http://www.belinstitute.eu/images/stories/documents/gspaug7en.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

Hedenskog, Jakob (2010): "Kyiv's Rapid Drift Back to Moscow." *RUFS Briefing* No. 4. June 2010. Stockholm: Swedish Defence Research Agency.

http://www.foi.se/upload/projects/RUFS/RUFS_briefing_no_4_june_v2.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

Hedenskog, Jakob/Robert L. Larsson (2007): "Russian Leverage on the CIS and the Baltic States." *Defence Analysis*. Stockholm: Swedish Defence Research Agency. http://www2.foi.se/rapp/foir2280.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

Jamestown.org (2005): "Russian political campaign to influence Moldova's elections." 1 March 2005. http://www.jamestown.org/single/?no cache=1&tx ttnews tt news =27616, accessed 10 February 2010.

Karaganov, Sergey/Igor Jurgens (2009): Rossiya vs. Evropa. Protivostoeniye ili soyuz? [Russia vs. Europe: Opposition or Alliance?). Moscow: Astrel.

King, Charles (2000): *The Moldovans. Romania, Russia and the Politics of Culture.* Stanford, California: Hoover Institution Press.

Kommersant (2005): "Belarusian Sugar Has Crossed the Russian Border." 22 February 2005. http://www.kommersant.com/p548911/r_1/Belarusian_Sugar_Has_Crossed_the_Russian_Border/, accessed 10 February 2010.

Kommersant (2005): "The Plan of Victory over Moldova." 8 June 2005. http://www.kommersant.com/page.asp?id=583797, accessed 10 February 2010.

Korduban, Pavel (2007): "Yushchenko faces NATO referendum problem". *Eurasia Daily Monitor*, 10 January 2007. http://www.jamestown.org/programs/edm/single/?tx_ttnews[tt_news]=32371&tx_ttnews[backPid]=171&no_cache=1, accessed 8 November 2010.

Lavrov, Sergey (2009а): "Стенограмма выступления и ответов Министра иностранных дел России С.В.Лаврова на вопросы СМИ в ходе пресс-конференции по итогам совместного заседания коллегий МИД России и МИД Белоруссии в рамках рабочего визита Министра иностранных дел Белоруссии С.Н.Мартынова в Россию." ["Verbatim report of the presentation and answers of Minister of Foreign Affairs of Russia Sergey Lavrov to questions asked by media representatives on the press-conference up to the joint session of officials of the MFA of Russia and MFA of Belarus in the framework of the working visit of Minister of Foreign Affairs of Belarus Sergey Martynov to Russia."] Moscow. 25 November 2009. http://www.mid.ru/Brp_4.nsf/arh/4EE81F32E13DFAE7C3257679004A4BCD?OpenDocument, accessed 10 February 2010.

Lavrov, Sergey (2009b): "Russia 'could join EU Eastern Partnership'." *EU Business*. 25 November 2009. http://www.eubusiness.com/news-eu/russia-diplomacy.1mp/, accessed 10 February 2010.

Lerhis, Ainārs/Andis Kudors/Ivars Indāns (2007): *Outside Influence on the Ethnic Integration Process in Latvia*. Riga: Centre for East European Political Studies. http://www.lsif.lv/files/pics/angliski 08.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

Löwenhardt, John (2004): *The OSCE, Moldova and Russian diplomacy in 2003*. The Hague: Clingendael Institute. April 2004,

http://www.clingendael.nl/publications/2004/20040426 | %C3%B6wernhardt.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

Marandici, Ion (2007): *Moldova's neutrality: what is at stake?* Chisinau: "Viitorul" Institute for Development and Social Initiatives.

http://www.viitorul.org/public/866/en/lonM%20-%20studiu_neutralitate__eng_.doc, accessed 10 February 2010.

Meister, Stefan/Marie-Lena May (2009): "The EU's Eastern Partnership – a Misunderstood Offer of Cooperation" *DGAP Standpunkt*. September 2009. No. 7.

http://www.dgap.org/midcom-serveattachmentguid-1deb1fa8b1777d6b1fa11deb27a218bc26c7bcd-7bcd/2009-07_stp_may-meis-45008f.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Russian Federation (2010): "Voennaya doktrina Rossiyskoy Federatsii." ["Military doctrine of the Russian Federation."] Moscow.

http://www.mid.ru/ns-osndoc.nsf/0e9272befa34209743256c630042d1aa/2a959a74cd7ed01f432569fb004872a3?OpenDocument, accessed 10 February 2010.

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Poland (2008): "Polish-Swedish proposal. Eastern Partnership." Warsaw.

http://www.msz.gov.pl/Polish-Swedish,Proposal,19911.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

Moldova.org (2008): "Moldova's National Security Strategy took effect." 6 June 2008. http://social.moldova.org/news/moldovas-national-security-strategy-took-effect-125004-eng.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

Moldova.org (2009): "Russia continues its support to Moldova's breakaway Transnistria." 29 June 2009 http://politicom.moldova.org/news/russia-continues-its-support-to-moldovas-breakaway-transnistria-202013-eng.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

Nantoi, Oazu (2005): "Transnistrian Conflict: What Could the EU and the United States of America Do?" Chisinau: Institutul de Politici Publice.

http://transatlantic.sais-jhu.edu/bin/w/r/nantoi moldova.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

Popescu, Nicu (2005): "The EU in Moldova – Settling Conflicts in the Neighbourhood." *Occasional Paper.* No. 60. Paris: EU Institute for Security Studies.

Popescu, Nicu/Andrew Wilson (2009): *The Limits of Enlargement-Lite: European and Russian Power in the Troubled Neighbourhood.* London: European Council on Foreign Relations.

Póti, László (2001): "Ukrajna kül- és biztonságpolitikája, 1990–2000." ["Foreign and Security Policy of Ukraine, 1990-2000."] Defense Studies. Budapest: Office for Strategic Defense Studies.

Pravda.ru (2005): "Russia to announce amnesty for millions of illegal guest-workers." 9 November 2005. http://english.pravda.ru/main/18/88/351/16434 immigration.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

President of Russia (2009): "*Proekt dogovora evropeyskoy bezopasnosti.*" ["The draft of the European Security Treaty."] 29 November 2009. Moscow. http://www.kremlin.ru/news/6152, accessed 10 February 2010.

Prodi, Romano (2002): "Peace, Security And Stability International Dialogue and the Role of the EU." Brussels, 5-6 December 2002 http://europa.eu/rapid/pressReleasesAction.do?reference=SPEECH/02/619&format=HTML&aged=0&language=EN&guiLanguage=en, accessed 10 February 2010.

RFE/RL (2008): "Commentary: Is The Belarusian Opposition Losing The Battle For Young Minds?" 13 June 2008. http://www.rferl.org/content/article/1347821.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

RFE/RL (2008): "Fears That Crimea Could Be Next Flashpoint For Conflict With Russia." 24 August 2008. http://www.rferl.org/Content/Crimea_Flashpoint_For_Conflict_With_Russia/1193380.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

RFE/RL's Belarus Service (2008): "Newsline, 15 February 2008."

SPES Policy Papers 2010

http://www.rferl.org/content/article/1144053.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

RIA Novosti (2009): "Immigrants ensure Russia's population growth - minister." 3 Dec 2009. http://en.rian.ru/russia/20091230/157424926.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

RIA Novosti (2009): "Russia, Belarus, Kazakhstan seek to join WTO as customs bloc." 9 June 2009. http://en.rian.ru/russia/20090609/155211045.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

RIA Novosti (2009): "Онищенко стал гражданином Южной Осетии." ["Onishchenko Became Citizen of South Ossetia."] 24 June 2009.

http://www.rian.ru/society/20090624/175302151.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

RIA Novosti (2010): "Medvedev orders government to ease immigration restrictions." 11 February 2010. http://en.rian.ru/russia/20100211/157842699.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

RIA Novosti (2010): "Russia set to restore radar shield on western borders in 2010." 15 January 2010. http://en.rian.ru/russia/20100115/157551180.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

RIA Novosti (2010): "Ukraine ends counterintelligence work on Russian FSB officials - paper." 29 May 2010. http://en.rian.ru/world/20100529/159209138.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

Rontoyanni, Clelia (2002): "Russian and Ukrainian Views Of The European Security and Defense Policy." *Colloque CERI*, 1 July 2002.

http://www.ceri-sciencespo.com/archive/july02/colloque/papercr.pdf, accessed 10 February 2010.

Russia Journal, The (2002): "Putin, Lukashenko discuss union." 18 August 2002. http://www.russiajournal.com/node/11832, accessed 10 February 2010.

Selivanova, Irina (2008): "Vostochnoe napravlenie politiki sosedstva ES" ["Eastern Direction of the Neighbourhood Policy of the European Union."] *Russia and the Contemporary World*. 2008/2. Moscow: Institute of Economics of the Russian Academy of Sciences.

Shishelina, Lyubov (2006): "Rasshirenniy ES i Noviy Etap Vzaimootnoshenii Rossii s Gosudarstvami Vostochnoy Evropi" ["Enlarged European Union and New Stage of Russia's Relations with Eastern European States." 6th International Scientific Conference Russia and Central Europe in the New Geopolitical Realities. Moscow. 8-9 September 2006.

Stockholm International Peace Research Institute (s.t.): "SIPRI Arms Transfers Database." http://www.sipri.org/research/armaments/transfers/databases/armstransfers, accessed 10 February 2010.

Solovyov, Eduard (2009): "Дефицит «мягкой силы» в российской политике на постсоветском пространстве." ["Soft Power Deficit in the Russian Politics Towards the Post-Soviet region."] *Perspectives*. 3 November 2009.

http://www.perspektivy.info/rus/gos/deficit_magkoj_sily_v_rossijskoj_politike_na_postsovetskom_prostranstve 2009-11-03.htm, accessed 10 February 2010.

Soyuzinfo.ru (2009): "С. Гурулев: Союзная система ПВО будет опробована в ходе учений." ["S. Gurulyev: The Union System of Air Defense Will be Tested in Exercise."] 24 August 2009. http://www.soyuzinfo.ru/ru/in_focus/day_opinion/index.php?id6=121288&id4=133665, accessed 10 February 2010.

Stewart, Susan (2009): "Russland und die Östliche Partnerschaft. Harsche Kritik, punktuelles Kooperationsinteresse." *SWP Aktuell 21*. Berlin: SWP.

Szabó, István (2009): "Ukrán-orosz gazdasági kapcsolatok az ukrán euro-atlanti integráció tükrében." ["Ukrainian-Russian Economic Ties in the Light of the Ukrainian Euro-Atlantic Integration".] *Eastern European Studies*. Budapest: MTA-VKI.

Time (2009): "Russia-Belarus Relations Sour over Milk Ban." 16 June 2009. http://www.time.com/time/world/article/0,8599,1904749,00.html, accessed 10 February 2010.

Trenin, Dmitri (2007): "Russia and Ukraine" in: Daniel Hamilton/Gerhard Mangott (eds): *The New Eastern Europe: Ukraine, Belarus and Moldova.* Washington: Center for Transatlantic Relations.

Végh, Zsuzsanna (2009): "Keleti Partnerség - A szándék megvan?" ["Eastern Partnership – The Intention is There?" *Policy Brief.* Budapest: Hungarian Institute of International Affairs. http://www.kulugyiintezet.hu/index.php?menu=26&gyors=2013, accessed 10 February 2010.

Wilson, Andrew/ Clelia Rontoyanni (2004): "Economics and security in Russia's foreign policy and the implications for Ukraine and Belarus." In: Robert Legvold/Celeste A. Wallander (eds): *Swords and Sustenance*. Cambridge, MA American Academy of Arts and Sciences: MIT Press

WMD Insights (2008): "Russian Military is Working to Enhance Precision Targeting and Early Warning Capabilities." December 2007 – January 2008.

http://www.wmdinsights.com/i21/i21_ru1_russianmilitary.htm, accessed 10 November 2010.